# 72516-5

# 72516-5

#### FILED July 1, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

NO. 72516-5-I

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JIMI HAMILTON,

Appellant.

# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

The Honorable Marybeth Dingledy, Judge

#### BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KEVIN A. MARCH Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

# **

# TABLE OF CONTENTS (CONT'D)

| b. | DOC's continual interference in Hamilton's privileged<br>communications also requires dismissal under pertinent<br>case law and CrR 8.3  |
|----|--|
| c. | At minimum, remand is required for the trial court consider<br>dismissal by properly placing the burden and beyond-a-<br>reasonable-doubt standard of proof on the State   |
| 2. | THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY NOT SUMMONSING<br>A NEW VENIRE OR BY NOT INSTRUCTING JURORS<br>THAT HAMILTON'S CASE WAS A THIRD STRIKE<br>CASE GIVEN A VENIREPERSON'S DISCLOSURE<br>THAT HIS SECOND DEGREE ASSAULT CONVICTION<br>CARRIED AN EXTREMELY LIGHT PUNISHMENT 42 |
| 3. | THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING THE<br>STATE TO CROSS-EXAMINE HAMILTON'S EXPERT<br>USING CONCLUSIONS CONTAINED IN<br>NONTESTIFYING PROVIDERS' TREATMENT<br>REPORTS   |
|    | a. <u>ER 703 and ER 705 do not permit unrelied upon</u><br><u>opinions and conclusions of nontestifying treatment</u><br><u>providers to be introduced in cross examination for</u><br><u>impeaching expert testimony</u>  |
|    | b. <u>The statements read by the prosecutor in its</u><br><u>impermissible attempt to impeach Grassian consisted</u><br><u>entirely of inadmissible hearsay</u>  |
|    | c. <u>The trial court erred in instructing the jury to consider</u><br><u>the statements attributed to Hamilton in prison medical</u><br><u>records as substantive evidence, i.e., for the truth of the</u><br><u>matter asserted</u>                              |

# TABLE OF CONTENTS (CONT'D)

|    | d. | The admitted statements also were inadmissible under<br>ER 404(b) and ER 403, and the trial court failed to<br>engage in any analysis on the record regarding these<br>rules                                      |
|----|----|---|
|    | e. | To the extent that defense counsel forfeited any claim<br>of error by failing to object to the State's recitation of<br>inadmissible evidence, defense counsel rendered<br>ineffective assistance                 |
|    |    | i. <u>Nature of objections during cross examination</u><br><u>of Grassian</u>   |
|    |    | ii. <u>The various objections to Grassian's testimony</u><br><u>made by ounsel and Hamilton adequately preserved</u><br><u>the errors for review</u>  |
|    |    | <ul> <li>iii. If defense counsel failed to adequately object to<br/>the prosecutor's improper impeachment of Grassian,<br/>which consisted of hearsay and ER 404(b) evidence,<br/>they were ineffective</li></ul> |
|    | f. | The erroneous admission of the providers' statements<br>and related ineffective assistance of counsel severely<br>undermined Hamilton's diminished capacity defense,<br>and was therefore extremely prejudicial   |
| 4. |    | OSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT DEPRIVED<br>AMILTON OF A FAIR TRIAL 87   |
|    | a. | The prosecutor impermissibly commented on<br>Hamilton's and Dr. Grassian's veracity during cross<br>examination   |
|    | b. | The prosecutor's disparagement of Dr. Grassian,<br>Hamilton, and defense counsel during closing argument<br>was flagrant and ill intentioned misconduct   |

# TABLE OF CONTENTS (CONT'D)

| с.              | <u>The cumulative effect of the prosecutorial misconduct</u><br><u>requires reversal</u>   |
|-----------------|--|
|                 | E JURY INSTRUCTION ON REASONABLE DOUBT<br>UNCONSTITUTIONAL   |
| a.              | WPIC 4.01's language improperly adds an articulation<br>requirement  |
| b.              | <u>WPIC 4.01's articulation requirement impermissibly</u><br><u>undermines the presumption of innocence</u>  |
| c.              | WPIC 4.01's articulation requirement requires reversal. 105  |
| INI             | THE FOREGOING ERRORS DID NOT<br>DIVIDUALLY DEPRIVE HAMILTON OF A FAIR<br>IAL, THEIR CUMULATIVE EFFECT SURELY DID . 105   |
| AN<br>A J<br>TH | E TRIAL COURT VIOLATED HAMILTON'S STATE<br>D FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS WHEN<br>UDGE, RATHER THAN A JURY, MADE A FINDING<br>AT HE WAS A "PERSISTENT OFFENDER" UNDER<br>E POAA |
| a.              | The state and federal constitutions require a jury to find<br>any fact that increases the penalty for a crime beyond<br>the standard range                                       |
| b.              | The fact-of-prior-conviction exception is narrow<br>in scope and the findings necessary under RCW<br>9.94A.030(37)(a)(ii) fall outside of it                                     |
| c.              | The remedy is remand for sentencing within the standard range  |
| <u>CONC</u>     | <u>LUSION</u>  |

D.

#### **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

#### WASHINGTON CASES

| <u>Group Health Co-op. of Puget Sound, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue</u><br>106 Wn.2d 391, 722 P.2d 787 (1986) |
|---|
| <u>In re Electric Lightwave, Inc.</u><br>123 Wn.2d 530, 869 P.2d 1045 (1994)103, 109                      |
| <u>In re Glasmann</u><br>175 Wn.2d 696, 286 P.3d 673 (2012)   |
| <u>In re Pers. Restraint of King</u><br>54 Wn. App. 50, 772 P.2d 421 (1989)                               |
| <u>In re Welfare of J.M.</u><br>130 Wn. App. 912, 125 P.3d 245 (2005)                                     |
| <u>Miller v. Arctic Alaska Fisheries Corp.</u><br>133 Wn.2d 250, 944 P.2d 1005 (1997)63                   |
| <u>State v. Acosta</u><br>123 Wn. App. 424, 98 P.3d 503 (2004) 60, 70, 71, 72, 75                         |
| <u>State v. Anderson</u><br>44 Wn. App. 644, 723 P.2d 464 (1986)  |
| <u>State v. Anderson</u><br>153 Wn. App. 417, 220 P.3d 1273 (2009)  |
| <u>State v. Ball</u><br>127 Wn. App. 956, 113 P.3d 520 (2005)   |
| <u>State v. Benn</u><br>120 Wn.2d 631, 845 P.2d 289 (1993)71  |
| <u>State v. Bennett</u><br>161 Wn.2d 303, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007)  |

| Page  |
|---|
| <u>State v. Bownman</u><br>57 Wn.2d 266, 356 P.2d 999 (1960)43                |
| <u>State v. Brown</u><br>132 Wn.2d 529, 940 P.2d 546 (1997)71                 |
| <u>State v. C.D.W.</u><br>76 Wn. App. 761, 887 P.2d 911 (1995)                |
| <u>State v. Coe</u><br>101 Wn.2d 772, 684 P.2d 688 (1984)105                  |
| <u>State v. Copeland</u><br>130 Wn.2d 244, 922 P.2d 1304 (1996)               |
| <u>State v. Cory</u><br>62 Wn.2d 371, 382 P.2d 1019 (1963) 14, 20, 30, 37, 38 |
| <u>State v. Cosden</u><br>18 Wn. App. 213, 568 P.2d 802 (1977)104             |
| <u>State v. DeVries</u><br>149 Wn.2d 842, 72 P.3d 748 (2003)                  |
| <u>State v. Doerflinger</u><br>170 Wn. App. 650, 285 P.3d 217 (2012),         |
| <u>State v. Eaton</u><br>30 Wn. App. 288, 633 P.2d 921 (1981)                 |
| <u>State v. Emery</u><br>174 Wn.2d 741, 278 P.3d 653 (2012)                   |
| <u>State v. Ermert</u><br>94 Wn.2d 839, 621 P.2d 121 (1980)94                 |
| <u>State v. Fisher</u><br>165 Wn.2d 727, 202 P.3d 937 (2009)71                |

| Page  |
|---|
| <u>State v. Garza</u><br>99 Wn. App. 291, 994 P.2d 868 (2000)   |
| <u>State v. Granacki</u><br>90 Wn. App. 598, 959 P.2d 667 (1998) 37, 38, 39   |
| <u>State v. Greiff</u><br>141 Wn.2d 910, 10 P.3d 390 (2000)105  |
| <u>State v. Harras</u><br>25 Wash. 416, 65 P. 774 (1901)104   |
| <u>State v. Hayes</u><br>81 Wn. App. 425, 914 P.2d 788 (1996)112  |
| <u>State v. Hendrickson</u><br>129 Wn.2d 61, 917 P.2d 563 (1996) 81   |
| <u>State v. Jackson</u><br>102 Wn.2d 689, 689 P.2d 76 (1984)71  |
| <u>State v. Johnson</u><br>158 Wn. App. 677, 243 P.3d 936 (2010)102   |
| <u>State v. Kalebaugh</u><br>179 Wn. App. 414, 318 P.3d 288<br><u>review granted</u> , 180 Wn.2d 1013, 327 P.3d 54 (2014)103, 104 |
| <u>State v. Kinneman</u><br>155 Wn.2d 272, 119 P.3d 350 (2005)  |
| <u>State v. Klinger</u><br>96 Wn. App. 619, 980 P.2d 282 (1999)   |
| <u>State v. Lindsay</u><br>180 Wn.2d 423, 326 P.3d 125 (2014)   |
| <u>State v. Lively</u><br>130 Wn.2d 1, 921 P.2d 1035 (1996) 28, 29  |

| Page  |
|---|
| <u>State v. Lucas</u><br>167 Wn. App. 100, 271 P.3d 394 (2012)                      |
| <u>State v. Martinez</u><br>121 Wn. App. 21, 86 P.3d 1210 (2004) 29, 34, 36, 68, 77 |
| <u>State v. Mason</u><br>160 Wn.2d 910, 162 P.3d 396 (2007) 44, 45, 46, 49          |
| <u>State v. Neidigh</u><br>78 Wn. App. 71, 895 P.2d 423 (1995)                      |
| <u>State v. Newlum</u><br>142 Wn. App. 730, 176 P.3d 529 (2008)                     |
| <u>State v. Peña Fuentes</u><br>179 Wn.2d 808, 318 P.3d 257 (2014) 20, 37, 39, 42   |
| <u>State v. Perez</u><br>137 Wn. App. 97, 151 P.3d 249 (2007)                       |
| <u>State v. Pillatos</u><br>159 Wn.2d 459, 150 P.3d 1130 (2007)                     |
| <u>State v. Portnoy</u><br>43 Wn. App. 455, 718 P.2d 805 (1986)                     |
| <u>State v. Rafay</u><br>168 Wn. App. 734, 285 P.3d 83 (2012)                       |
| <u>State v. Reed</u><br>102 Wn.2d 140, 684 P.2d 699 (1984)                          |
| <u>State v. Stenson</u><br>132 Wn.2d 668, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997)                      |
| <u>State v. Tanzymore</u><br>54 Wn.2d 290, 340 P.2d 178 (1959)104                   |

| Page   |
|--|
| <u>State v. Thomas</u><br>109 Wn.2d 222, 743 P.2d 816 (1987) 80, 82, 94, 108   |
| <u>State v. Thompson</u><br>13 Wn. App. 1, 533 P.2d 395 (1975)104  |
| <u>State v. Thorgerson</u><br>172 Wn.2d 438, 258 P.3d 43 (2011)  |
| <u>State v. Townsend</u><br>142 Wn.2d 838, 15 P.3d 145 (2001) 43, 44, 45, 46, 47, 48, 49                                     |
| <u>State v. Venegas</u><br>155 Wn. App. 507, 228 P.3d 813 (2010)101  |
| <u>State v. Wade</u><br>98 Wn. App. 328, 989 P.2d 576 (1999)72   |
| <u>State v. Walker</u><br>164 Wn. App. 724, 265 P.3d 191 (2011)  |
| <u>State v. Warren</u><br>165 Wn.2d 17, 195 P.3d 940 (2008)  |
| <u>State v. Wineberg</u><br>74 Wn.2d 372, 444 P.2d 787 (1968)  |
| <u>State v. Witherspoon</u><br>171 Wn. App. 271, 286 P.3d 996 (2012)<br><u>aff'd</u> , 180 Wn.2d 875, 329 P.3d 888 (2014)108 |
| <u>State v. Yarbrough</u><br>151 Wn. App. 66, 210 P.3d 1029 (2009)   |
| <u>Wash. Irr. &amp; Dev. Co. v. Sherman</u><br>106 Wn.2d 685, 724 P.2d 97 (1986) 55, 59, 60, 84                              |
| <u>Young v. Liddington</u><br>50 Wn.2d 78, 309 P.2d 761 (1957)   |

Page

#### FEDERAL CASES

| <u>Almendarez Torres v. United States</u><br>523 U.S. 224, 118 S. Ct. 1219, 140 L. Ed. 2d 350 (1998) 108, 110         |
|---|
| <u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u><br>530 U.S. 466, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 147 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000) . 27, 28, 107, 108, 111, 113 |
| <u>Blakely v. Washington</u><br>542 U.S. 296, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004) 27, 107, 111, 113             |
| <u>Bobb v. Modern Prods., Inc.</u><br>648 F.2d 1051 (5th Cir. 1981)   |
| <u>Bruno v. Rushen</u><br>721 F.2d 1193 (9th Cir. 1983)91   |
| <u>Butler v. Curry</u><br>528 F.3d 624 (9th Cir. 2008)110   |
| <u>In re Winship</u><br>397 U.S. 358, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970)   |
| <u>Jackson v. Virginia</u><br>443 U.S. 307, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979)                                   |
| <u>Johnson v. Louisiana</u><br>406 U.S. 356, 92 S. Ct. 1620, 32 L. Ed. 2d 152 (1972)                                  |
| <u>New York Life Ins. Co. v. Taylor</u><br>147 F.2d 297 (D.C. Cir. 1944)  |
| <u>Olmstead v. United States</u><br>227 U.S 438, 48 S. Ct. 564, 72 L. Ed. 2d 944 (1928)                               |
| Oregon v. Ice   |

555 U.S. 160, 129 S. Ct. 711, 172 L. Ed. 2d 517 (2009)...... 108

|   | _           |
|---|-------------|
|   | Page        |
| <u>Rogers v. United States</u><br>422 U.S. 35, 95 S. Ct. 2091, 45 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1975)      |             |
|   |             |
| Shannon v. United States  | 15 00 45    |
| 512 U.S. 573, 114 S. Ct. 2419, 129 L. Ed. 2d 459 (1994)                                   | 15, 30, 47  |
| Shepard v. United States  |             |
| 544 U.S. 13, 125 S. Ct. 1254, 161 L. Ed. 2d 205 (2005)                                    | 108         |
| Southern Union Co. v. United States   |             |
| U.S, 132 S. Ct. 2344, 183 L. Ed. 2d 318 (2012)  |             |
| Stokes v. Schriro   |             |
| 465 F.3d 397 (9th Cir. 2006)  |             |
|   |             |
| <u>Strickland v. Washington</u><br>466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984) | 80.82       |
| 400 0.5. 000, 104 5. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ld. 2d 074 (1964)                                    |             |
| Sullivan v. Louisiana   | 105         |
| 508 U.S. 275, 113 S. Ct. 2078, 124 L. Ed. 2d 182 (1993)                                   | 105         |
| United States v. Johnson  |             |
| 343 F.2d 5 (2d Cir. 1965)   |             |
| United States v. Kortgaard  |             |
| 425 F.3d 602 (9th Cir. 2005)  |             |
| United States v. Russell  |             |
| 411 U.S. 423, 93 S. Ct. 1637, 36 L. Ed. 2d 366 (1973)                                     |             |
|   |             |
| <u>United States v. Salazar Lopez</u><br>506 F.3d 748 (9th Cir. 2007)                     | 110 111 112 |
| 200 2 10 2 · · · · () III CIII 2007)  |             |

#### **OTHER JURISDICTIONS**

| <u>Ferguson v. Cessna Aircraft Co.</u><br>132 Ariz. 47, 643 P.2d 1017 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1981)55  |
|--|
| <u>State Highway Comm'n v. Parker</u><br>225 Or. 143, 357 P.2d 556 (1960)  |
| RULES, STATUTES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES  |
| 11 WASHINGTON PRACTICE:<br>WASHINGTON PATTERN JURY INSTRUCTIONS:<br>CRIMINAL 1.02, (3d ed. 2008)   |
| 11 WASHINGTON PRACTICE:<br>WASHINGTON PATTERN JURY INSTRUCTIONS:<br>CRIMINAL 4.01 (3d ed. 2008) 96, 97, 98, 99, 100, 101, 102, 103, 104, 105   |
| 5D KARL B. TEGLAND, WASH. PRACTICE:<br>COURTROOM HANDBOOK ON WASH. EVIDENCE (2011-2012 ed.)  |
| COURTROOM HANDBOOK ON WASH. EVIDENCE (2011-2012 Cd.)   |
| Steve Sheppard<br><u>The Metamorphoses of Reasonable Doubt: How Changes in the Burden</u><br><u>of Proof Have Weakened the Presumption of Innocence</u><br>78 NOTRE DAME L. REV. 1165 (2003)   |
| Steve Sheppard<br><u>The Metamorphoses of Reasonable Doubt: How Changes in the Burden</u><br><u>of Proof Have Weakened the Presumption of Innocence</u>  |
| Steve Sheppard<br><u>The Metamorphoses of Reasonable Doubt: How Changes in the Burden</u><br><u>of Proof Have Weakened the Presumption of Innocence</u><br>78 NOTRE DAME L. REV. 1165 (2003)   |
| Steve Sheppard<br><u>The Metamorphoses of Reasonable Doubt: How Changes in the Burden</u><br><u>of Proof Have Weakened the Presumption of Innocence</u><br>78 NOTRE DAME L. REV. 1165 (2003)   |
| Steve SheppardThe Metamorphoses of Reasonable Doubt: How Changes in the Burdenof Proof Have Weakened the Presumption of Innocence78 NOTRE DAME L. REV. 1165 (2003)8 U.S.C. § 1326  |
| Steve Sheppard<br>The Metamorphoses of Reasonable Doubt: How Changes in the Burden<br>of Proof Have Weakened the Presumption of Innocence<br>78 NOTRE DAME L. REV. 1165 (2003)   |
| Steve Sheppard         The Metamorphoses of Reasonable Doubt: How Changes in the Burden         of Proof Have Weakened the Presumption of Innocence         78 NOTRE DAME L. REV. 1165 (2003)         8 U.S.C. § 1326         110         CrR 8.3         20, 37, 38         ER 401       25, 79         ER 403       25, 70, 73, 77, 79, 81 |

| ER 801 61, 62, 68  |
|--|
| ER 802   |
| ER 803   |
| ER 804   |
| ER 805   |
| LAWS OF 2007, ch. 205, § 1 113   |
| LAWS OF 2007, ch. 205, § 2 113   |
| Persistent Offender Accountability Act. 3, 5, 9, 27, 47, 106, 108, 109, 112, 113   |
| Prison Rape Elimination Act of 2003, Pub. L. 108-79, 117 Stat. 972 codified at 42 U.S.C. §§ 15601 to 15609 (Sept. 4, 2003)10 |
| RCW 5.45   |
| RCW 5.45.020   |
| RCW 9.94A  |
| RCW 9.94A.030  |
| RCW 9.94A.535  |
| RCW 9.94A.537  |
| RCW 9.94A.589  |
| RCW 9A.72.020  |
| RCW 9A.72.150  |

Page

| Sentencing Reform Act of 1981               |              |
|---|--------------|
| U.S. CONSt. amend. V                        | 100          |
| U.S. CONST. amend. VI                       | 80, 105, 107 |
| U.S. CONST. amend. XIV                      | 100, 107     |
| Uniform Business Records Act                | 62, 64       |
| CONST. art. I, § 3                          | 100          |
| CONST. art. I, § 22                         |              |
| WEBSTER'S THIRD NEW INT'L DICTIONARY (1993) |              |

#### A. <u>ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR</u>

1a. The shocking misconduct of the Department of Corrections(DOC) offends the fundamental sense of fairness and is so outrageous that due process bars this prosecution.

1b. The trial court erred in not dismissing this prosecution in light of a DOC officer's intrusion on attorney-client communications and subsequent tampering with video tape evidence to conceal it, DOC's refusal to provide Jimi James Hamilton a confidential space to meet with his attorneys, and DOC's refusal to adhere to the trial court's orders designed to remedy further DOC intrusions on attorney-client communications.

1c. In its narrative conclusions of law issued September 24, 2013, the trial court refused to presume prejudice based on the DOC's misconduct because Hamilton could not demonstrate that the fruits of DOC's misconduct were communicated to the prosecutor. CP 603-04. This was error because the State bore the burden to prove the absence of prejudice beyond a reasonable doubt.

1d. The trial court erred in denying Hamilton's motion to reconsider the September 24, 2013 order denying dismissal, which requested that the court properly place the burden on the State to prove the absence of prejudice beyond a reasonable doubt. CP 435.

1e. The trial court erred in entering finding of fact 59 in its November 3, 2014 order denying Hamilton's motion to dismiss, which stated that the placement of Hamilton and his attorneys in a no-contact room was justified by the need for safety and security and that the inability to exchange documents did not damage the attorney-client relationship or otherwise prejudice Hamilton. CP 16.

1f. The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law 1 "related to all allegations" in its November 3, 2014 order that any intrusions into Hamilton's private affairs were necessary and justified by legitimate security concerns. CP 21.

1g. The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law 2 "related to all allegations" in its November 3, 2014 order that Hamilton had not shown arbitrary action or government misconduct. CP 21.

1h. The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law 1 in its November 3, 2014 order that DOC's intrusions do not rise to the level of violating Hamilton's rights to counsel and a fair trial and do not warrant dismissal. CP 22.

1i. The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law 2 in its November 3, 2014 order that DOC's intrusions were justified by legitimate general security concerns. CP 22.

1j. The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law 3 in its November 3, 2014 order that DOC's actions did not prejudice Hamilton's right to a fair trial beyond a reasonable doubt. CP 23.

1k. The trial court erred in entering conclusion of law 4 in its November 3, 2014 order denying the motion to dismiss. CP 23.

1*l*. The trial court erred by wholly failing to remedy DOC's misconduct.

2. In this Persistent Offender Accountability Act (POAA) case, the trial court erred in refusing to grant a mistrial or instruct the jury that Hamilton faced a life sentence without the possibility of parole after a venireperson informed all jurors he had only received a 72-day work release sentence for second degree assault, the very charge Hamilton faced.

3a. The trial court erred in permitting the prosecutor to "impeach" defense expert Stuart Grassian, M.D. with prison records containing the opinions and conclusions of nontestifying experts Grassian did not rely upon in formulating his opinion on diminished capacity.

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