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

advances by 1/100th of a minute. However, throughout the video

the recording periodically jumps forward by more than a single

hundredth of a minute.

Officer Reeder testified that he had nothing to do with

recording or copying the video 8/23/13 RP 298 Yvette Stubbs,

the administrative assistant that responded to the public disclosure

request for the video, testified that she did not tamper with the

video 8/26/13 RP 459-460 The video system is an old system

that operates on time lapse which accounts for the jumps in the

recording. 8126/13 RP 460, 500.

The court’s only specific finding that Officer Reeder was not

credible related to his testimony that he did not read the

defendant’s legal materials when he conducted the cell search. 2

CP 598. It did not make a finding that Officer Reeder’s testimony
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was not credible in toto. Nor did it specifically find the officer’s

testimony that he had nothing to do with recording or copying the

video was not credible. At best the court inferentially found that

testimony not credible. A finding that the officer was not credible on

that point is not the same as an affirmative factual finding that the

video had been tampered with. Other personnel testified that the

video had not been tampered with Evidence that the recording

system was old and operated on a time lapse system presented

affirmative evidence the portion of the video that sped up was a

mechanical malfunction, not an intentional tampering with the

video. Because there was no affirmative evidence that DOC

personnel tampered with the video, the couits findings that it had

been tampered with and that there was collusion by DOG personnel

to do so, is unsupported by the record.

In the second motion to dismiss the court found the

arrangements for the meeting between the defendant and his

attorneys on March 12, 2014 at Stafford Creek “was a purposeful

intrusion into the attorney client relationship’ I CP 16 (line 5-7)

This finding is somewhat confusing in light of the court’s additional

finding that there was no intentional eavesdropping, no audio

recording, and no evidence that anyone watched the video
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recording of that visit or passed information on to the prosecution

Id at lines 8-13 The only “intrusion” into the relationship at that

meeting was the inability to pass paperwork back and forth

between the attorneys and the defendant That fact alone did not

interfere with the relationship as contemplated by cases addressing

that kind of due process violation.

An intrusion into the attorney client relationship occurs when

a government agent purposefully obtains information about

communications between the attorney and client. This kind of

intrusion occurred when police recorded conversations between the

defendant and his attorney through a microphone that had been

installed in the professional visit room at the jail State v Corv~ 62

Wn 2d 371, 382 P 2d 1019 (1963) It also occurred when an officer

listened to recorded phone conversations between the defendant

and his attorney State v Pena Fuentes, 179 Wn 2d 808, 318 p 3d

257 (2014) It also occurred when officers looked at documents

memorializing communications between the: defendant and his

attorney. State v. Granaki, 90 Wn. App. 598, 601-02, 959 P.2d 667

(1998), State v. Garza, 99 Wn. App. 291, 293, 994 P.2d 868,

review denied, 141 Wn 2d 1014 (2000)
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Here no DOG employee listened in on conversations

between the defendant and his attorneys. Nor did they review any

documents containing communications between the defendant and

his attorneys. 6/17/14 RP 70; 6/19/14 RP 29, 114, 117, 137, 148,

178, 8/11/14 RP 19-20, 51-55, 72,82, 102-103, 111, 127, 139, 142-

143. Unlike the earlier meeting with thern defendant, no DOG officer

was enlisted to assist in ferrying paperwork between the attorney

and the defendant Instead they were told that paperwork had to be

mailed 6/16/14 RP 31, 104 While it may not have been as

convenient to share information With the defendant, nothing

prevented the attorneys and the defendant from holding up

doc:uments that needed reView to the window separating them.

Although the defendant expressed concern about mailing

documents because he was aware DCC personnel scanned the

mail to inmates that alone does not demonstrate an intrusion into

the attorney client relationship A due process violation of the

attorney client relationship requires an actual intrusion into

communications between the attorney and client. The record does

not support that the conditions of the March 12, 2014 meeting with

the defendant’s attorneys resulted in any such intrusion
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A reviewing court is not bound by the trial court’s erroneous

factual finding. Hffl~ 123 Wn.2d at 647. Here, neither the finding

that the cell search video had been tampered with nor the finding

that there was a purposeful Intrusion into the attorney client

relationship supported by the record. This court Is therefore not

bound by that factual finding as a basis on which to conclude DOC

committed misconduct.

2. The Record Does Not Support The Court’s Conclusion That
Officer Reeder’s Cell Search And DOC Handling Of An
Attorney Visit In May 2013 At Clallam Bay Corrections Center
Constituted Governmental Misconduct Or Mismanagement.

In the first motion to dismiss the defense alleged DOC

intruded into confidential communications between the defendant

and his attorneys violating his right to due process, effective

assistance of counsel, and a fair trial. 2 CP 678. The defendant

relied on the court’s reasoning in Corv, suQra. 2 CP 669, 678.

After hearing testimony from inmates, the defendant, the

defense investigator and DCC personnel the court concluded that

there were several instances of governmental misconduct. The

court found that the classroom was available for attorney client

meetings. It found the policy at Clallam Bay which put inmates In

the visitor’s room for those confidential meetings constituted
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mismanagement. The court also found it was misconduct to have

DCC employees transfer documents between the defendant and

his attorneys during those visits. It found it was misconduct to allow

DCC employees in the hallway behind the defendant while he was

meeting with his attorneys because that could have been avoided.

2CP 599.

The court also found that Officer Reeder’s cell search

constttuted “voluntary and dishonest” governmental misconduct 2

CP 601 It supported this conclusion in part by the “possible

collusion with other DOC employees in tampering with the

videotape.” 2 OP 601. As discussed above the court is not bound

by this latter finding asit is not supported by the record.6

Conclusions of law are reviewed de novo. State v. Veltri,

136 Wn. App. 818, 821, 150 P.3d 1178 (2007). The court’s

conclusions must be supported by its factual findings.~ ]~. None of

the courts factual findings that are supported by the record support

the conclusion that DOC actions constituted governmental

6 The court also found that the DOC policy regarding legal mail also constituted
government mismanagement to the degree that confidential legal mall is
scanned 2 CP 600 Evidence of that poiicy related to an incident where a
different inmate’s legal mail was scanned Because there was no evidence
introduced that showed the defendant’s legal mail was scanned to the point that
it invaded attorney client communicahons, it was irrelevant to the defendant’s
motion to dismiss the assault charge against him on that basis.
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mismanagement or misconduct in either the manner in which DCC

provided space for meetings with the defendant’s attorney or

Officer Reeder’s cell search.

Courts have found governmental misconduct in cases where

the record showed government employees purposefully intruded

into attorney client communications. In Gory a defendant who failed

to make bail pretrial met with his attorney at the jail in a room

designated for professional visits. The sheriff’s office deliberately

intruded into discussions between the defendant and his attorney

by installing a microphone in the room, and recording those

conversations. Cory, 67 Wn.2d at 372. The court found this conduct

violated the defendant’s constitutional right to counsel j.ç[ at 377

The court assumed that information gained from that

eavesdropping was communicated to the prosecution i~. at n. 3.

Since the prejudice resulting from this conduct could not be

isolated, the court dismissed the charge. ~. at 377-378.

in Granaki the State conceded that government misconduct

occurred when the State’s managing witness read the defense

attorney’s notes during a break mid-trial. Granaki, 90 Wn. App. at

601-02. The notepad was introduced as evidence at the hearing on

defendant’s motion to dismiss. j~.. at 601 ni. Because the notepad
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contained a distillation of conversations between counsel and the

defendant, this court found the officer’s conduct was similar to the

eavesdropping the court found subject to sanction in COrv. ~. at

603.

In Garza jail officers were responding to a legitimate concern

that some inmates had tried to escape when they thoroughly

searched the inmates’ cells During the cell search the inmates’

property, ‘including legal documents containing pnvate

communications with their attorneys, was seized and ‘gone

through.” Ga~a, 99 Wn, App.~ at 293. Those legal materials were

retained for 32 days before they were retUrned to the inmates. ~

The court found an intrusion into defendants’ private relationships

with their attorneys when jail officers seized, examined, and

possibly read the defendant’s materials during the course of cell

searches. Id. at 296.

Most recently the court found egregious misconduct resulting

from an intrusion into a defendant’s phone calls with his attorney in

State v Pena Fuentes, 179 Wn 2d 805, 318 P 3d 257 (2014)

There a detective investigating potential witness tampering listened

to all of the phonecalls the defendant made from jail, including six

calls he made to his attorney. j~. at 81 6~.
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In each of these cases the record demonstrated that a

government purposefully gained information regarding confidential

communications between a defendant and his attorney. In contrast,

here the court made no such finding regarding either the attorney

client visit or the cell search. Nor does the record support such a

finding.

With respect to the attorney client visitation room the court

made no finding either orally or in writing that anyone from DOG

tried to listen in on the defendant’s conversation with his attorneys

at the May 7, 2013 meeting. Further the court made no finding that

anyone from DOC actually heard what the defendant and his

attorney were talking about. At best the record would support two

findings. First that DOG made some attempt to make a secure

visitation booth more private, although there were people behind

both the defendant and the attorneys at the time the visitation

occurred. Those efforts included putting up signs on the

defendant’s side of the booth restricting access to the hallway

behind him, and putting up barriers in the visitation room behind the

attorneys to keep some distance between other visitors and the

attorneys. Second, that someone who made an effort to listen could

hear that there was a conversation going on between the defendant

32



and his attorney but not the substance of that conversation. No

one testified they heard any sounds or conversations coming from

the visitation booth. While the defense investigator could hear

noises from the hallway behind the defendant, she could not hear

any specific conversations. 8/23/13 RP 419.

The court’s conclusion that the visitation arrangement

constituted misconduct apparently is based on the belief that the

opportunity to invade attorney client communications is the same

as an actual purposeful invasion of those communications. No

authority supports that conclusion. Gory, Granaki, Garza, and

Pena Fuentes stand for the proposition that an actual intrusion into

an attorney client communication is misconduct. Absent any actual

intrusion, or attempt to intrude, there is no governmental

misconduct.

Similarly, the court found Officer Reeder’s cell search was

misconduct. While the court found the officer had read some of the

defendant’s documents, it also found that it could not tell what

paperwork was read, since no paperwork from the defendant’s cell

had been submitted in evidence. It did not find that the officer read

any legal documents associated with the assault charge or any

other case that the defendant had pending at the time. It also found
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that neither the prosecutor nor the Monroe Police knew about the

cell search until the defendant filed the motion 2 CP 598, 9/24/13

RP 4 Without finding the officer invaded any attorney client

communications the court erred in concluding that his conduct

during the cell search constituted misconduct.

The defendant States that witnesses testified that Officer

Reeder appeared to be reading the defendariVs legal materials,

citing to the testimony of several other inmates BOA at 30

However the inmates either did not see into the defendant’s cell, or

could not tell what kind of paperwork the officer was looking at

8/22/13 RP 117, 162-163 These statements do not support the

court’s conclusion that Officer Reeder’s cell search constituted

government misconduct by intrusion into the attorney client

communications.

The defendant also asserts that DOC personnel could hear

his discUssions with his attorneys because they “practically had to

yell to communicate through the Plexiglas divider” to support the

court’s finding that the visitation arrangements constituted

misconduct BOA at 33 The investigator testified that it was loud in

the visitation room behind them, and she could barely hear the

defendant through the glass, but that they could talk through it
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8/23/13 RP 415, 417; 8/24/13 RP 433. The defendant testified that

due to the noise behind the defense team he had to speak “more

loud,” but he did not say that he was yelling. 8/24/13 RP 557. The

defendant also states, without citation to the record, that during the

attorney visit DOC personnel read documents that his counsel

asked to have provided to him. Officer Schwenker was asked to

pass the paperwork She recognized that some of the documents

were typewritten while others were legal pads But she also said

that she did not read the contents of those documents 8/23/13 RP

399-400 Since one could recognize the nature of the documents

without reading them, her testimony is not inconsistent, and it does~

not support the defendant’s assertion that the documents were

read.

Since there was no support for the conclusion that there was

governmental misconduct arising from either the May 2013

attorney- client meeting or cell search, the court thd not err when it

denied the motion to dismiss the charge for an intrusion into

attorney client communications from those incidents. Even if the

court concludes that the trial court’s conclusions were supported by

the record, the trial court still did not abuse its discretion when it

denied the motion Unlike Gory and Granaki here there was no
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evidence that anyone from DOG learned anything about the

defendanUs defense. None of the DOG officers involved were

witnesses to the assault. And no one communicated anything to the

prosecution. Thus any error arising from those two instances was

harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Pena Fuentes, 179 Wn.2d

at 819 (the extreme remedy of dismissal is not required when there

Is no possibility of prejudice to the defendant).

3. Department Of Corrections Did Not Commit Misconduct
When The Defendant Met With His Attorneys in March 2012 At
Stafford Creek.

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